THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPLE IN THE COURT OF APPEAL

KEITH JOHNSON

MAR 2 4 2008

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS
APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MONROE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT (Oral Argument Requested)

> SIDNEY F. BECK, JR. ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

9128 PIGEON ROOST, STE. F **P.O. DRAWER 1310 OLIVE BRANCH, MS 38654** (662) 895-7555

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Court erred in failing to sustain the Motion For Directed Verdict at the close of the State's case in chief and at the conclusion of the trial;
- 2. Whether the Court erred in overruling the Motion For J.N.O.V., Or In The Alternative, Motion For New Trial;
- 3. Is the verdict of the Jury against the great weight of the evidence?

STATEMENT OF CASE

This case is coming before this Court as a result of the indictment and trial of Keith Johnson, for the killing by Culpable Negligence (Manslaughter) of Shane Johnston.

The State's proof as to this case comprised testimony by Tavia Wade, Sammy Mitchell, Haley Goode, William Alexander Parker, Harold Lance Schrock, Kelly Hall, Curtis Knight and Steven T. Hayne, Coroner. None of these people, with the exception of Harold Lance Schrock and William Alexander Parker, observed any part of the events leading up to the death of Shane Johnston. The State attempted to put the blame for the cause of this incident on Patrick Forrester. The only statement in the entire State's evidence, other than statements given by this Appellant and his family as to what happened, was given by William Alexander Parker and Harold Lance Shrock, who testified that they went with Shane Johnston to the Forrester residence to fight Patrick Forrester and the fight started, but when the Appellant fired a gun into the air, telling them to leave, they went to their car and left, but came back later, after Johnston had been shot.

It is unconfroverted that Parker, Schrock and Shane Johnston were the aggressors, inasmuch as they came to the Forrester home, wherein the lot on which it is situated is fenced in, with a gate bolted shut, and a "No Trespassing" sign on it, but they trespassed anyway, and started the fight.

The Appellant, at the request of Patrick Forrester, had come out into the yard when he found out that Shane Johnston, Schrock and Parker, were coming down to whip Patrick. Unarmed, he met them in the yard, requested they leave, asking them why they wanted to pick on a sixteen year old boy. After this was said, Shane Johnston started to fight with Keith Johnson and in the melee, Schrock and Parker started to join in the fight. While warding them off, Shane Johnston hit the Appellant in the jaw, loosening a tooth, whereupon the Appellant went into the house to check the damage done to his tooth.

ń.

In the meantime, Johnston, Schrock and Parker continued the melee, by hitting Jerry Forrester, a man in his 50's, in the nose causing it to bleed, and kicking Ivy Nicole Forrester, a thirteen year old female, in the abdomen.

Upon hearing the melee, the Appellant got his cousin's, Jerry Forrester's, pistol out of a drawer, loaded it, and came outside. Standing on the porch of the Forrester residence, he fired the gun into the air, telling them to leave, saying, "You have won, if you want to think of it that way. Just leave", whereupon Schrock and Parker did leave. Shane Johnston, stated that he was a soldier and that he was not afraid and that he was going in the house and getting Patrick Forrester, who had gone inside, and kill him; whereupon this Appellant raised the pistol to fire it into the air, and it is unknown whether he deliberately fired the gun, which has a light pull to the trigger, or whether it accidently went off. At any rate, the shot hit the deceased in the forehead, above the eyebrows.

It is very clear from the record that Shane Johnston, Harold Lance Schrock and William Alexander Parker, came to the Forrester residence to fight, as stated in the testimony of Lance Schrock. Further, there is no question that this Appellant was defending his cousin, his home, and himself, in taking the action that he took.

4

STATEMENT OF FACTS

About the 15th day of June, 2005, Keith Johnson moved from Oakland, TN to Amory, MS, to live with his cousin, Jerry Forrester, on Becker Bottom Road in said City, because he had become addicted to, and had went through treatment for addiction to, methamphetamine, and came to Amory to get away from the crowd he would be encountering in Tennessee.

Mr. Johnson's cousin, Patrick Forrester, was sixteen (16) years old at the time, and had quit school and had lived for a year with Tavia Wade, who's proclaimed fiancé was in the State penitentiary. Tavia Wade and the deceased had a baby together. She testified that she told Patrick Forrester that when Shane Johnston came home from the penitentiary that she would go with him, and their relationship would be over.

On the evening of June 24, 2005, Tavia Wade, Shane Johnston, Lance Schrock, and Haley Goode, were at the Schrock house on Becker Bottom Road, which is located about 1/4 of a mile from where the Forrester's lived. Shane Johnston came in while a conversation between Lance Schrock and Patrick Forrester was in progress, and as they put it, there was a lot of hollering and cursing going on. The upshot of it was that Shane Johnston took the phone from Lance and he and Patrick Forrester cursed at each other for awhile. Their story was that Patrick had been calling all evening, cursing and hollering and inviting Lance Schrock and Shane Johnston, if they wanted to fight, to come on down to his place, which Patrick Forrester denies vehemently. After hanging up the phone, Shane Johnston said that he and Lance were going down to talk to Patrick and Jerry Forrester, about Patrick's conduct. According to Tavia Wade, when Shane Johnston told her where they were going, the tried to talk him out of it, and told him that they had "No Trespassing" signs. Alex Parker came in shortly thereafter. They told Patrick Forrester they were coming down and would whip him, whereupon he went into the house and told his cousin, the Appellant herein, Keith Johnson, that three (3) guys were coming to his house to whip him, and asked for help, whereupon the Appellant went into the front yard of the Forrester home with Patrick. Alex Parker, Lance

Schrock and Shane Johnston parked their car on the edge of the road, next door to the Forrester house and came back and entered the Forrester yard, even though the gate was locked and there was a "No Trespassing" sign on the gate, but they persisted and came in the yard, where they were met by Patrick Forrester and Keith Johnson. They came up, announcing vehemently what they were going to do to Patrick Forrester. When Johnston started toward Patrick Forrester, the Appellant stepped between them and attempted to talk Johnston into dropping it, stating that Patrick was only sixteen years old and that he wanted no trouble. At that point, Shane Johnston attacked the Appellant and they fought. When the Appellant noticed that Lance Schrock and Alex Parker started to come toward him, he was trying to keep them from getting behind him, and while he was maneuvering, Shane Johnston hit him in the mouth, knocking a tooth loose, whereupon the Appellant went into the house, to the bathroom, to try to put his tooth back in. While he was in the house, Shane Johnston, started to come up on the porch of the Forrester house to confront Jerry Forrester, and picked up a set of bolt cutters. Jerry called for Patrick, who snatched the bolt cutters from Shane Johnston hands and threw them away, and threw Johnston across the car and then off the car and across a barbeque pit. Shane Johnston and Lance Schrock attacked Nicky Forrester, a thirteen year old girl, kicking her in the stomach and hitting her. Inside, hearing the commotion, the Appellant got Jerry Forrester's pistol, loaded it, and came out on the porch and shot it into the air, telling Shane Johnston, Lance Schrock and Alex Parker, to leave. Schrock and Parker left at this time, getting into Shane Johnston's car and driving down to the Schrock house, and then went riding around for awhile, and then decided to go back to the Forrester house to see about Johnston. Upon arriving they saw Shane Johnston was on the ground and was unconscious, having been shot in the head. It is unconfroverted that the Appellant was raising the pistol to fire a second shot into the air, trying to get Share Johnston to leave, even though Shane Johnston was standing there, screaming he was not afraid, that he was a soldier, and that he was going into the house and kill Patrick Forrester.

In their testimony, as will be quoted later in this brief, both Schrock and Parker said that they, along with Shane Johnston, the deceased, went to the Forrester house to fight. They started the fight, they were there to hurt someone, and grossly outnumbered anyone at the Forrester house that was able to fight, Jerry Forrester being a man in his 50's, who didn't fight at all even though he was punched in the nose by Lance Schrock; Nicky Forrester, who was a thirteen year old child at the time; Sibyl Forrester, who stayed on the phone trying to call 911 during the whole incident; leaving Patrick Forrester and the Appellant as the only people there to defend themselves, their family and their home.

The Appellant had gone so far as to tell Shane Johnston and the other two men, that they had won and to please leave, and that he did not want any trouble.

It is unclear whether the pistol used by the Appellant went off as he raised the gun to make a second shot in the air, or whether the Appellant was firing in necessary self-defense of himself and the Forrester family.

John Patterson, Sibyl Forrester's son by another marriage, was there and helped get Nicky away from Shane Johnston, but otherwise, took no part in this fight, but took Nicky and went back in the house and stayed there.

The State made much of the supposition that Patrick Forrester had started the whole thing, by calling and making a nuisance of himself, and supposedly stating that Schrock's girlfriend was making advances to him, and that Tavia Wade's child was not legitimate. It is true that he is not legitimate, because his father and mother were not married. Tavia Wade, a self-confessed sexual batterer, tries to lay the blame on Patrick Forrester for the start of the fight, and tries to absolve Shane Johnston from any responsibility therefor.

The Court, in issuing its instructions, refused most of the instructions tendered to the Court by the Appellant, however, it rewrote one instruction tendered by the Appellant, which combined the refused instructions partially, following an instruction drawn and tendered to the Court by the

Appellant. What was more detrimental to the defense was instructions C-5, C-6 and C-7, given at the request of the State, inasmuch as it detracted, weakened, and took away from the Appellant his ability to rely on self-defense.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The argument in this case is that the verdict is against the great weight of the evidence, and that the Motion For Directed Verdict and Motion For J.N.O.V., Or In The Alternative, Motion For New Trial, should have been sustained, and that the refusal to sustain same was an error on the Court's part.

ARGUMENT

This cause came before the Court on an indictment for the Culpable Negligent Manslaughter of Shane Johnston. The evidence presented at trial clearly shows that Shane Johnston, William Alexander Parker and Harold Lance Schrock, came from the Schrock home, about 1/4 of a mile down the road from the Forrester home, and entered the yard, even though the yard was fenced, the gate was closed securely and there was a "No Trespassing" sign on the gate, and started a fight with Keith Johnson, who was attempting to talk to them, requesting that they leave and not pick on a sixteen year old boy; namely, Patrick Forrester.

It is clear from the law in this State that everyone has the right to protect his home, himself, and members of his family, when he perceives himself or members of his family to be in imminent danger of death or great bodily harm. In <u>Alvin Robinson</u>, a/k/a <u>Alvin Lenard Robinson</u>, a/k/a <u>Bernard Hill v. State of Mississippi</u>, 858 So.2d 887 (Miss.2003), where the Defendant had been charged with murder and convicted of manslaughter for the use of a knife in self-defense, the Court held.

"that a "homicide with a deadly weapon is justifiable when the deceased assaults another with only his hands," if the hands are used in a manner likely to cause death or serious bodily injury."

and further, the Court held,

"no error would exist here unless there was evidence introduced to support this defense. Even if there was contrary evidence, the defendant would be entitled to an instruction on his principal theory if there is some evidence to support it. Robinson testified that he feared for his life from the moment a stranger began chasing him through the streets of Tupelo, honking the car horn and flashing headlights. He testified that the driver of the vehicle was unknown to him; he could not even tell if the driver was a man or woman. Robinson also testified that he was completely

unaware he was under attack until his car door was suddenly wrenched open and he was violently dragged out of his vehicle. By that time, he must already have gotten the knife since he stated that he never returned to the car to get it."

The Court quoted from Manual v. State, 667 So.2d 590, 593 (Miss.1995), showing that a person is justified in using a deadly weapon when he is reasonably fearful of serious bodily injury from the larger man. In the case at bar, this Appellant had been attacked by one man, and then subjected to two other men approaching him, with the idea of assisting Shane Johnston in his attack upon Keith Johnson, and did assist him in attacking Jerry Forrester and Ivy Nicole Forrester. It is not whether the person actually intended to do great bodily harm, or to kill the person using deadly force, but that the defendant in such a case, as in the instant case, thus be fearful himself and does not have to prove it, but it only has to exist in his mind. On Page 244, Lines 7 through 29, and Page 245, Line 1, of the trial transcript, where Keith Johnson is testifying, it clearly shows that Johnson was not the aggressor, but that Shane Johnston, the deceased, Schrock and Parker were the aggressors, with Keith Johnson testifying as follows:

"A. Yes, sir, I tried to. When Shane walked up, all three of them walked up, and I was standing up against the truck. And when Shane walked up, he was fixing to jump on Patrick, so I stepped in between them. And I was going to try to stop them. You know, I tried to talk sense into him. And that's when we got into, and he swung at me, and we started fighting and stuff. And I don't know how long we started fighting." I don't know how long we was fighting or nothing. And that's when Patrick run in, I think and - - whew.

Q. Was that before you went in the house and got a pistol?

E

A. It was before. I'm sorry. We went - - Patrick came in and got me. I was inside watching TV. When I came - - we walked outside and two boys, they pulled. I mean, three boys pulled up. And we sat right by the truck. And Shane walked up

to Patrick, and he was fixing to jump on him, so I stepped in front of him. I tried to talk to him. I told him why are you trying to jump on him for, you know, a kid. And I tried to talk sense into him. And he asked me who I was, and he started hitting his chest and saying, I'm a soldier and stuff. Who are you? And I said, Man, I don't want to fight you because I don't know you."

After talking to them, the fighting started, and as he and Shane Johnston were fighting, he states on Page 245, Lines 4 through 19,

"Them other two boys came up behind me, and I was trying - - I was turned around. I was trying to, you know, keep them off of me. That's when I turned back around and Shane caught me in my mouth. And that's when I was trying to get away, I was running from them, and I got on the front porch right there. And I finally got away from them, and that's when I ran inside the house. And I went to the bathroom. And I was trying to put my tooth back in my mouth because I didn't want to lose it. And that's when I heard hollering and screaming. And I went back there, and I got the pistol, and I did, I loaded it up and everything, and came out on the front porch. And I aimed it out, and I pulled the trigger, and it didn't do nothing. So I cocked it back and shot it again. And I told everybody to leave. Whew. Then them other two boys ran off."

This is when he got hit and went in the house and got the pistol, coming back out and shooting in the air. Further, on Page 245, Lines 20 through 27,

"Then that's when Shane said he wasn't going nowhere, and I walked up toward him, and I told him, I said, Man, would you please just leave. And I - - when I raised the gun up, I was raising the gun up, and when I did, I barely had my hand on the trigger. And I was raising it up, it went off. That's the honest to god truth. I didn't mean to kill that boy. I swear I didn't. I swear I didn't mean to."

This clearly shows that there was never an intent to kill or do great bodily harm to the deceased. He was acting in self-defense, as he had every right to do, and he did not know the deceased or his accomplices, and as the appellant was merely trying to get them to leave and to protect his family, as he stated on Page 246, Lines 1 through 16.

- "A. I never met a person like that before. He was pretty crazy.
- Q. Okay. Did you think you were in danger of harm?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Did you think any of your family was?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. What was your purpose in firing the shot in the air?
- A. I just wanted everybody to leave. I'm an easy going person. I don't cause no problems for nobody. I don't like fighting or nothing. I just wanted everybody to go away. I just - I was - I shot up in the air. I told them several times to leave. Them other two boys - the first one I shot, I did, those two boys ran off. And he said he wasn't going nowhere. That's the honest to god truth."

After the shooting, he went back in the house and put the gun up, being extremely nervous and as he put it, "freaked out". There is nothing in the trial transcript that states that there is anything going on here, except the Appellant protecting himself and his family, which he had every right to do.

In the case of <u>Ardes Johnson v. State of Mississippi, 2005 So.2d (2004-KA-01202-SCT)</u> (<u>Miss.2005</u>), the defendant was in Shelby, Mississippi to attend his grandmother's funeral. After the funeral, he stayed with his aunt to help her pack for a move, when an old friend, Shirley Landrum came over. Throughout the day, Shirley Landrum's live-in-boyfriend, Dennis Davis, came by the apartment, becoming more irate, and finally causing the defendant to call 911 to report the incidents.

"When Officer Russell left, Landrum and Johnson continued to pack and later took a break for dinner. Around midnight, the two decided to walk to the store to get a few beers. Johnson suggested walking instead of driving because it was a nice night outside. As Johnson was leaving the apartment, he put the folding knife in his pocket. While Landrum and Johnson were walking down the street, Johnson stopped at the corner to talk to a few friends. While they were on the street corner, Davis appeared from around a dark corner and ran towards Landrum calling her a liar and yelling obscenities. Davis approached Landrum hitting her in the chest with both hands and then hit her in the face. However, the number of times Davis actually struck Landrum is disputed. Upon seeing Davis hit Landrum, Johnson walked over to them and told Davis to stop hitting her. At this point, Landrum walked away from Davis, claiming that she did not want to get into a fight in the middle of the street. Both Johnson and Landrum testified that Davis had a black object in his hand, however, no object was ever recovered. Johnson claims that Davis then turned towards kim, as if to hit him, and Johnson stabbed Davis once in the abdomen with the knife. When Landrum realized that Davis had been stabbed, she ran to a neighboring house to get a towel for the wound. Johnson threw the knife in some bushes and fled the scene."

In the case at bar Mrs. Sibyl Forrester spent the entire time after the disturbance, until it was over, attempting to get help from the police. When they arrived, this unfortunate incident had reached its conclusion, in the death of Shane Johnston. At no time was Keith Johnson ever in the position of the aggressor, even after he fired the gun in the air, he still attempted to get Shane Johnston to leave. In view of the fact that there had been an attack by three different men, ranging in age from seventeen (17) or eighteen (18), to thirty (30), Shane Johnston being thirty (30) years old, who came there to attack a sixteen (16) year old boy, the damage to the Appellant's mouth and the deceased's

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