#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**KEITH JOHNSON** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-1687-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

# APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT PROPOSITION I
THERE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL CORROBORATED EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF DENYING ALL
PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTIONS
POSITION II & III THERE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL CORROBORATED
EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# STATE CASES

Bowen v. State, 164 Miss. 225, 227, 144 So. 230, 232 (1932)
Clemons v. State, 460 So. 2d 835 (Miss. 1984)
Esparaza v. State, 595 So. 2d 418, 426 (Miss. 1992)
Fisher v. State, 481 So. 2d 203, 212 (Miss. 1985)
Groseclose v. State, 440 So. 2d 297, 301 (Miss. 1983)
Hammond v. State, 465 So. 2d 1031, 1035 (Miss. 1985)
Harveston v. State, 493 So. 2d 365, 370 (Miss. 1986)
Jackson v. State, 580 So. 2d 1217, 1219 (Miss. 1991)
Jones v. State , 635 So. 2d 884, 887 (Miss. 1994)
Lester v. State 862 So.2d 582, 585 (Miss. App. 2004)
McClain v. State, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993)
Miller v. State 956 So.2d 221, 223 (Miss. 2007)
Neal v. State, 451 So. 2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1984)
Noah Chinn v. State, 958 So. 2d 1223, 1227
Noe v. State, 616 So. 2d 298, 302 (Miss. 1993)
Shannon v. State, 321 So. 2d 1 (Miss. 1975)
Shirley v. State 942 So.2d 322, 328 (Miss. App. 2006)
Smith v. State, 197 Miss. 802, 814-15, 20 So.2d 701, 704-05 (1945)
Spikes v. State, 302 So. 2d 250, 251 (Miss. 1974)
Wetz v. State, 503 So. 2d 803, 807-08 (Miss. 1987)

# STATE STATUTES

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 97-3-47 (Rev.2006)
STATE RULES
Miss. Unif. Crim. R. of Cir. Ct. Prac. 5.16

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KEITH JOHNSON

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-1687-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY:

On September 10-13, 2007, Keith Johnson, "Johnson" was tried for culpable negligence manslaughter of Mr. Shane Johnston under M. C. A. §97-3-47 before a Monroe County Circuit Court jury, the Honorable Thomas J. Gardner, III., presiding. R. 1. Johnson was found guilty of manslaughter and given a fifteen year sentence with eight years suspended in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. R. 356: C.P. 80. From that conviction, Johnson appealed to the Supreme court. C.P. 88.

# **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

I.

WAS THERE SUFFICIENT, CREDIBLE EVIDENCE FOR ESTABLISHING THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE?

# II & III.

WAS THERE SUFFICIENT, CREDIBLE EVIDENCE FOR ESTABLISHING THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 8, 2005, Johnson was indicted for culpable negligence manslaughter of Mr. Shane Johnston on June 25, 2005 under M. C. A. §97-3-47 by a Monroe County Grand jury. C.P. 10-11.

On September 10-13, 2007, Johnson was tried for culpable negligence manslaughter of Mr. Shane Johnston before a Monroe County Circuit Court jury, the Honorable Thomas Gardner, III., presiding. R. 1. Johnson was represented by Mr. Sidney Beck, Jr., R. 1.

Mr. William Alexander Parker testified that he saw Johnson holding a gun to Shane's head.

R. 127. This was just prior to hearing a shot. When he looked again, he saw Shane laying on the ground.

Parker also testified that when fatally shot in the forehead, Shane's hands were "down by his side." R. 126-127. He was not armed, or trying to fight anyone. He had no weapon in his hands.

Parker also testified that while Johnston had fought with Johnson previously, when Johnson came out of the house with a handgun, the fighting between them was over. R. 133.

Officer Curtis Knight testified that he recovered two spent .22 caliber shells as well as the .22 caliber revolver at the scene of the crime. R. 164-165. See State's photographic exhibit 1 for photograph of .22 caliber revolver. The cylinder was removed. Two spent .22 caliber shells, and one live round are visible. See manila envelop marked "Exhibits."

Officer Knight testified that the revolver Johnson used had to be cocked prior to pulling the trigger for it to fire. R. 173. Knight also testified that his interview with Johnson and other witnesses indicated that neither the victim, nor any of his friends were ever armed with any weapons. R. 169. The only person with a fire arm was Johnson.

The trial court admitted State's Exhibit 3A, the signed, dated and witnessed Miranda rights

waiver. He also admitted 3B, Johnson's accompanying voluntary statement about the circumstances involved in the slaying of Mr. Shane Johnston. R. 177-178. In Johnson's statement, he stated the following:

I walked over to where Shane was and pointed the gun at him and was going to tell him to leave when the gun went off. The gun was two or three feet from Shane's head when it went off.

Mr. Lance Schronk testified that he was present when Shane Johnston was shot. R.142. He saw what looked like a gun in Johnson's hand. R. 142. Schronk testified that neither he, or the victim, Johnston, were armed. R. 139.

At the conclusion of the prosecution's case, the trial court denied a motion for a directed verdict. R. 214-215.

Johnson testified in his own behalf. R. 243-272. Johnson testified that after firing a warning shot in the air, he raised the gun up and "it went off." He admitted that he cocked the gun, and pointed it at the victim's forehead. R. 245; 269-270. He admitted that pointing a loaded and cocked revolver at someone's head was an extremely dangerous action. R. 270-271.

Johnson testified that he shot the victim not because he was afraid of him but because he did not leave when requested to do so. R. 270.

While Johnson claimed to have been struck by Johnston in the mouth, he admitted on cross examination that he did not seek any medical attention for his alleged injury. R. 257.

Johnson was given jury instructions that dealt with self defense and accident. C.P. 52-55.

Johnson was found guilty of culpable negligence manslaughter. He was given a fifteen year sentence with eight years suspended in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

R. 356; C.P. 80. His motion for a new trial or JNOV was denied. C.P. 87.

From this conviction, Johnson appealed to the Mississippi Supreme Court. C.P. 88.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

1. The record reflects there was sufficient, credible substantial evidence in support of the trial court's denying all peremptory instructions. **McClain v. State**, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993). When the evidence presented by the prosecution was taken as true with reasonable inferences, there was sufficient credible, corroborated evidence for allowing the case to be presented to the jury for their deliberation.

In Lester v. State 862 So.2d 582, 585 (¶11) (Miss. App. 2004), the Court of Appeals stated that a home owner can not kill a trespasser with impunity merely because he does not leave the property as soon as the owner feels reasonable. The record reflects that Johnson was a guest not a home owner, R. 243.

There was sufficient evidence for determining that Johnson was not defending himself from Johnston when he shot and killed him. And there was sufficient evidence for determining that the slaying was not the result of an accident. Rather it was the result of "culpable negligence." Shirley v. State 942 So.2d 322, 328 (¶20-¶21) (Miss. App. 2006).

There was evidence that the victim was not armed. R. 169. Johnson admitted that neither Johnston nor any of his friends were ever armed at any time while present. R. 264. The record reflects that when shot in the forehead, Johnston was not threatening, or approaching Johnson. Johnson testified that he shot the victim not because he was afraid of him but because he did not leave when requested to do so. R. 270. The record also reflects that revolver used by Johnson must be cocked and the trigger must be pulled before it will fire. R. 173. It does not just "go off."

Johnson admitted to retrieving a revolver from inside his friend's home. He loaded it. He took it outside and fired it in the air. He then cocked it again. He admitted that he pointed it at victim's forehead. It was only a few feet from his forehead. He admitted these were very

dangerous actions. R. 270-271. Johnston died from a gunshot wound to his head from the handgun Johnson used. R. 207.

From this evidence, it was reasonable to infer that Johnson both cocked the hammer and pulled the trigger. The revolver did not accidentally fire of its own accord. The record reflects that Johnson was not defending himself or anyone else from any threat to his, or their lives or persons, when he fired the handgun.

2 &3. There was no "unconscionable injustice" involved in denying a motion for a new trial. **Jones** v. State, 635 So. 2d 884, 887 (Miss. 1994). Johnson is not entitled to give himself the benefit of favorable inferences consistent with his innocence on a motion for a new trial. His testimony about the killing being an accident or done in self defense or confusion merely created a factual and credibility issue the jury was responsible for resolving.

While there was testimony about an initial fight, there was credible, corroborated evidence indicating that when Johnston was shot he was not armed, or fighting with Johnson. R. 125-133. Eye witnesses testified that the victim was not armed or fighting with Johnson when shot. Johnson admitted that the victim was neither armed, fighting with him, or threatening him when he was shot. R. 264-272. Johnson testified that he pointed the gun at the victim because he did not leave quickly enough to suit him. R. 270. This issue is also lacking in merit.

# ARGUMENT PROPOSITION I

# THERE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL CORROBORATED EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF DENYING ALL PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTIONS.

Johnson believes that there was insufficient evidence in support of his conviction. Johnson believes that he was never shown to be the aggressor. He believes he had a right to defend himself, and that the death of Mr. Johnston was an accident, rather than something that he consciously did. Appellant's brief page 1-16.

The record reflects that there was sufficient credible, corroborated evidence in support of Johnson's culpable negligence manslaughter conviction. While Johnson testified that "the gun went off," this was contradicted by testimony, and physical evidence. Johnson admitted that he loaded the gun, cocked the gun, and pointed it at Mr. Johnston's head. R. 170-171. These are all intentional, reckless actions. They are extremely dangerous actions, showing indifference to the threat to the life of another human being. Under the circumstances, they indicate "culpable negligence."

Mr. William Alexander Parker testified that he saw Johnson holding a gun to Shane's "forehead." R. 127. This was just prior to hearing a shot. When he looked again, he saw Shane laying on the ground. Parker also testified that when fatally shot in the forehead, Shane's hands were "down by his side." R. 126-127. He was not armed, or trying to fight anyone. He had nothing in his hands.

Parker also testified that "the confrontation" between Johnson and Johnston was over prior to Johnston's being shot and killed. R. 132.

Q. So before turning around and seeing Shane on the, laying on the ground, the last thing you saw was the defendant holding a gun to Shane's forehead?

Q. And then you heard the gunshot?
A. Yes.
Q. And Shane's to the ground?
A. And I turned back around and Shane was laying on the ground. R. 127.
Q. Prior to being shot in the forehead, did Shane have anything in his hands?
A. <b>No.</b>
Q. Type of gun?
A. No.
Q. A stick?
A. Nothing.
Q. Set of hedge clippers?
A. Nothing.
Q. Was Shane attempting to jump on anybody?
A. <b>No.</b>
Q. He was just standing there?
A. His hands were down, just standing there.
Q. His hands were down by his side?
A. Yes. R. 126-127.
•••
Q. Prior to that (Johnson holding a hand gun to Johnston's head) Shane hadn't done anything. The whole entire confrontation was over?
A. Yes. R. 133. (Emphasis by Appellee).

A. Yes.

This testimony indicates that the victim was not armed or threatening Johnson when he was shot. R. 126-127. In his own testimony Johnson admitted that neither Johnston nor any of his companions were ever armed. R. 264.

Officer Curtis Knight testified that he recovered two spent .22 caliber shells as well as the .22 caliber revolver at the scene of the crime. R. 164-165. See State's photographic exhibit 1 for photograph of .22 caliber hand gun. The cylinder was removed. Two spent .22 caliber shells, and one live round are also present. See manila envelop marked "Exhibits."

Officer Knight testified that the revolver used in the killing had to be cocked prior to pulling the trigger for it to fire. R. 173. Knight also testified that his interview with Johnson and other witnesses indicated that neither the victim, nor any of his friends were ever armed with any kind of weapon. R. 169.

- Q. Now, anywhere in that initial statement that you took from the defendant, does he say anything about any of these guys that are outside having weapons?
- A. No, sir, I asked—everyone that was questioned we asked that, and the statement or response was no one else had any weapons. R. 169. (Emphasis by Appellee)
- Q. And what did he tell you at that point?
- A. He said he cocked the gun and pointed it towards him.
- O. Said he cocked the gun?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Did he tell you whether or not he meant to pull the trigger?
- A. He stated that he didn't and that it was an accident. He didn't mean to pull the trigger, that it had a light trigger pull.
- O. But he did tell you that he meant to load it?

- A. Yes.
- Q. And he did tell you that he meant to pull the hammer back?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Did he say whether or not he meant to put it to his head?
- A. He just said that he pointed it towards his head, said it was about a foot, maybe two feet from him, but his intentions were, you know, he pointed it at him.
- Q. But anywhere in this statement is there anything that says anything about anybody else having any weapon?
- A. No, sir. R. 170-171. (Emphasis by Appellee).
- Q. Let's talk about that for just a minute. You said that he told you in the second interview that the pistol, that pistol right there, was a double action. What did you say that that meant?
- A. You could either pull the trigger and fire it or either cock the hammer back and fire it.
- O. Okay. And you said that's not the case.
- A. No, sir.
- Q. And why is that?
- A. It's a single action pistol. The only way to fire it is actually cock the hammer back. R. 173.
- Q. ...So if you would, demonstrate for the jury in the position that it is—hold the gun up so they can see it. The position that the gun is in right now, describe that to the jury.
- A. Okay. It's just in a safe mode. If you pull the trigger, it's not going to fire. It's a single action pistol. You have to cock it back to make it fire. R. 174. (Emphasis by Appellee).
- Dr. Steven Hayne testified that he conducted an autopsy on Mr. Shane Johnston. He found

that the cause of his death was a gun shot wound to his forehead.

- Q. .. were you able to determine in your expert opinion the cause of death in this case?
- A. He died from a gunshot wound to the forehead. I described it as distant and also penetrating, that the bullet entered the body and did not exit. There's injury to the brain and there's also a fracture of the skull. R. 207. (Emphasis by Appellee).

The bullet went through his brain and lodged inside his skull. Dr. Hayne located the lead projectile and removed it.

- Q. Do you recall what they were? (the damage caused by the gunshot wound to the head)
- A... So the lethal injury was the gunshot wound to the forehead, going through the brain itself. The bullet was recovered on the back right side of the skull inside the cranial vault. A small caliber lead bullet was recovered at that point. R. 203.

Jury instruction C-3 instructed the jury on the elements of culpable negligence manslaughter. C.P. 52.

- 1) On or about the 25th of June, 2005 in Monroe County, Mississippi
- 2) that Randall Shane Johnston was a human being; and
- 3) that the defendant Keith Johnson, without authority of law, and not in necessary self defense of himself or others or as a result of accident or misfortune, did kill Randall Shane Johnson.
- 4) with culpable negligence, by shooting Randall Shane Johnston in the forehead, then you shall find the defendant guilty as charged. C.P. 52.

From the evidence cited, it was reasonable to infer that Johnson not only cocked the hammer but also pulled the trigger. The revolver did not accidentally fire. Johnson admitted that prior to the gun allegedly "going off," he had fired it in the air. And the record reflects that Johnson was not defending himself from any threat to his life or person when he fired the handgun. He was not defending anyone else from any threat of harm. Johnson admitted that he cocked the gun a second time prior to pointing it at Johnston's head. R. 270.

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